
 

 

Service Director – Legal, Governance and 
 

Commissioning 
 

Samantha Lawton 
 
Governance and Commissioning 
 

PO Box 1720  
 

Huddersfield 
 

 

HD1 9EL 
 

Tel: 01484 221000  
 

Please ask for: Andrea Woodside 
 

Email: andrea.woodside@kirklees.gov.uk 
 

Wednesday 15 January 2025 
 

Notice of Meeting 
 
Dear Member 
 

District-Wide Planning Committee 
 

The District-Wide Planning Committee will meet in the Council Chamber - 
Town Hall, Huddersfield at 1.00 pm on Thursday 23 January 2025. 
 
(A coach will depart the Town Hall, at 11.00am to undertake Site Visits. The consideration 
of Planning Applications will commence at 1.00 pm in Huddersfield Town Hall.) 
 
This meeting will be webcast live and will be available to view via the Council’s website. 
 
The items which will be discussed are described in the agenda and there are reports 
attached which give more details. 
 
 

 
 

Samnatha Lawton 
 

Service Director – Legal, Governance and Commissioning 
 
 
Kirklees Council advocates openness and transparency as part of its democratic 
processes. Anyone wishing to record (film or audio) the public parts of the meeting should 
inform the Chair/Clerk of their intentions prior to the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

District-Wide Planning Committee 
 

 
When a Member of the District-Wide Planning Committee cannot attend the meeting, a 
member of the Substitutes Panel (below) may attend in their place in accordance with the 
provision of Council Procedure Rule 35(7). 
 

Substitutes Panel 
 
Conservative 
B Armer 
D Hall 
J Taylor 
C Holt 
M Thompson

Green 
K Allison 
A Cooper

Labour 
M Ahmed 
J Homewood 
B Addy 
M Crook 
J Rylah 
A Sewell 
H McCarthy 

Liberal 
Democrat 
A Munro 
A Pinnock 
C Burke 
J Lawson 
D Longstaff 
A Marchington 
A Robinson 
A Smith 

Community 
Alliance 
C Scott 
A Zaman 

Kirklees 
Community 
Independents 
JD Lawson 

 

Member 
Councillor Sheikh Ullah (Chair) 
Councillor Ali Arshad 
Councillor Donna Bellamy 
Councillor Paola Antonia Davies 
Councillor Eric Firth 
Councillor Susan Lee-Richards 
Councillor Tony McGrath 
Councillor Paul Moore 
Councillor Mohan Sokhal 
 



 

 

 

Agenda 
Reports or Explanatory Notes Attached 

 

 
  Pages 

 

1:   Membership of the Committee 
 
To receive apologies for absence and any notice of substitution. 

 
 

 

 

2:   Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
To approve the Minutes of the Meeting of the Committee held on 31 
October 2024. 

 
 

1 - 4 

 

3:   Declaration of Interests and Lobbying 
 
Committee Members will advise (i) if there are any items on the 
Agenda upon which they have been lobbied and/or (ii) if there are 
any items on the Agenda in which they have a Disposable Pecuniary 
Interest, which would prevent them from participating in any 
discussion or vote on an item, or any other interests. 

 
 

5 - 6 

 

4:   Admission of the Public 
 
 

Most agenda items will be considered in public session, however, it 
shall be advised whether the Committee will consider any matters in 
private, by virtue of the reports containing information which falls 
within a category of exempt information as contained at Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 

 
 

 

 

5:   Public Question Time 
 
To receive any public questions. 
 
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11, the period for the 
asking and answering of public questions shall not exceed 15 
minutes. 
 
Any questions must be submitted in writing at least three clear 
working days in advance of the meeting. 

 
 

 

 
 



 

 

6:   Deputations / Petitions 
 
To receive any public questions. 
  
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11, the period for the 
asking and answering of public questions shall not exceed 15 
minutes. 
 
Any questions must be submitted in writing at least three clear 
working days in advance of the meeting. 

 
 

 

 

7:   Planning Applications 
 
The Committee will consider the attached Planning Application.     
 
Please note that any members of the public who wish to speak at the 
meeting must register to speak by 5.00pm (for phone requests) or 
11:59pm (for email requests) on Monday 20 January 2025.  
 
To register, please email andrea.woodside@kirklees.gov.uk or 
phone the Governance Team on 01484 221000 (ext 74993). 

 
 

7 - 8 

 

8:   Site Visit - Application: 2024/92992 
 
Installation of click and collect facility at 28-30, Leeds Road, Birstall, 
Batley. 
 
Ward affected: Birstall and Birkenshaw 
 
Contact: Faiza Bano, Planning Services 
 
(Estimated time of arrival at site – 11.30am) 

 
 

 

 

9:   Planning Application - Application No: 2024/92992 
 
Installation of click and collect facility at 28-30, Leeds Road, Birstall, 
Batley. 
 
Ward affected: Birstall and Birkenshaw 
 
Contact: Faiza Bano, Planning Services 

 
 

9 - 20 

 

Planning Update 
 

 

An update report providing further information on matters raised after the publication of the 
agenda will be added to the online agenda prior to the meeting. 

 



 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

Contact Officer: Andrea Woodside  
 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL 
 

DISTRICT-WIDE PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Thursday 31st October 2024 
 
Present: Councillor Sheikh Ullah (Chair) 
 Councillor Donna Bellamy 

Councillor Paola Antonia Davies 
Councillor Eric Firth 
Councillor Jo Lawson 
Councillor Susan Lee-Richards 
Councillor Tony McGrath 
Councillor Mohan Sokhal 

 
Observer:      

 
Councillor Zahid Kahut 

 
1 Membership of the Committee 

Councillor J D Lawson substituted for Councillor Kahut. 
 

2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
RESOLVED – That the Minutes of the Meeting of the Committee held on 19 
September 2024 be approved as a correct record 
 

3 Declaration of Interests and Lobbying 
Councillors Bellamy, Davies, Firth, Lee-Richards, McGrath, Sokhal and Ullah 
advised that they had been lobbied on Application 2023/91715. 
 

4 Admission of the Public 
It was noted that all agenda items would be considered in public session. 
 

5 Public Question Time 
No questions were received. 
 

6 Deputations / Petitions 
No deputations or petitions were received. 
 

7 Site Visit: Planning Application No: 2023/91715 
Site visit undertaken. 
 

8 Site Visit: Planning Application No: 2024/91907 
Site visit undertaken. 
 

9 Site Visit: Planning Application No: 2024/91202 
Site visit undertaken. 
 

10 Site Visit: Application for Definitive Map Modification Order 
Site visit undertaken. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



District-Wide Planning Committee -  31 October 2024 
 

2 
 

 
12 Application for a Definitive Map Modification Order (DMMO) 

The Committee gave consideration to an Application for a Definitive Map 
Modification Order to record a public footpath at Old Lane, Scapegoat Hill, Colne 
Valley on the Definitive Map and Statement, and two other discovered routes.  
 
Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 37, the Committee received a 
representation from Clare Atkinson (local resident).  

 
RESOLVED –  

 
1) That the Council make an Order under S53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981 to record a public footpath leading from Old Lane to 
Taylor Lane via burial ground (route 1) subject to the limitation of a gate, and 
to record a public footpath leading from Old Lane to High Street via steps 
(route 2). 

2) That the Council do not make an Order under S53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 to record a public footpath leading from Old Lane to 
High Street via Vermont Close (route 3). 

3) That, pursuant to (1) above, the Order be confirmed if unopposed, or, if 
objections are received and not withdrawn, the matter be referred to the 
Planning Inspectorate for determination, and that the Order be actively 
supported at any public inquiry or hearing. 

 
A Recorded Vote was taken in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 42 (5) as 
follows; 
For: Councillors Bellamy, Davies, Firth, JD Lawson, Lee-Richards, McGrath, Sokhal 
and Ullah (8 votes) 
Against: (no votes)  
 

13 Planning Application - Application No: 2024/91202 
The Committee gave consideration to Application 2024/91202 – Erection of eight 
dwellings with associated access and external works at land off Marsh Lane, 
Shepley, Huddersfield. 
 
Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 37, the Committee received 
representations from Steve Armitage (local resident), Nick Wilock (on behalf of local 
residents and Jake Hinchliffe (architect). 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
1) That authority be delegated to the Head of Planning and Development to approve 
the application, issue the decision notice and complete the list of conditions 
including matters relating to;    
 

- time scale for commencing development 
- in accordance with plans  
- unexpected land contamination 
- materials 
- drainage details 

Page 2



District-Wide Planning Committee -  31 October 2024 
 

3 
 

- overland flow routing 
- construction phase surface water flood risk and pollution prevention plan 
- areas to be surfaced and drained 
- details of junction of new estate road 
- visibility splays clear from obstruction 
- internal adoptable estate roads 
- construction access 
- defects survey 
 

2) That authority be delegated to the Head of Planning and Development to secure 
a S106 Agreement to cover biodiversity – contribution towards off-site measures to 
achieve biodiversity net gain. 
 
3) That, pursuant to (2) above, in circumstances where the S106 Agreement has not 
been completed within three months of this decision, the Head of Planning and 
Development shall be authorised to consider whether permission should be refused 
on the grounds that the proposals are unacceptable in the absence of the benefits 
that would have been secured, and would therefore be permitted to determine the 
Application and impose appropriate reasons for refusal under delegated powers. 
 
A Recorded Vote was taken in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 42 (5) as 
follows; 
For: Councillors Bellamy, Davies, Firth, JD Lawson, Lee-Richards, McGrath, Sokhal 
and Ullah (8 votes) 
Against: (no votes)  
 

14 Planning Application - Application No: 2024/91907 
The Committee gave consideration to Application 2024/91907 – Change of use of 
dwelling (C3) to children’s residential home (C2) at 18 Kingfisher Way, Dewsbury.  
 
Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 37, the Committee received a 
representation from Humayra Garda (applicant).  
 
RESOLVED – That authority be delegated to the Head of Planning and 
Development to approve the application, issue the decision notice and complete the 
list of conditions including matters relating to;    
 

- standard timeframe condition regarding implementation 
- development to be in accordance with plans  

 
A Recorded Vote was taken in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 42 (5) as 
follows; 
For: Councillors Bellamy, Davies, Firth, JD Lawson, Lee-Richards, McGrath, Sokhal 
and Ullah (8 votes) 
Against: (no votes)  
 

15 Planning Application - Application No: 2023/91715 
The Committee gave consideration to Application 2023/91715 – Demolition of 
existing mosque and erection of mosque and education centre - Mohaddis E Azam 
Education Centre and Masjid E Madani, 225c Ravenshouse Road, Dewsbury Moor.  

Page 3



District-Wide Planning Committee -  31 October 2024 
 

4 
 

 
Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 37, the Committee received a 
representation from Imtiaz Ameen (applicant).  
 
RESOLVED – That authority be delegated to the Head of Planning and 
Development to approve the application, issue the decision notice and complete the 
list of conditions including matters relating to;    
 

- time scale for implementation 
- development to be carried out in accordance with approved plans and 

specifications 
- samples of external materials to be submitted 
- call to prayer; control hours, length of time, sound level 

- electric vehicle charging points 
- submission of remediation strategy 
- implementation of remediation strategy 
- submission of verification report 
- intrusive site investigations (in relation to coal mining legacy) 
- details of external artificial lighting  
- parking management plan 
- construction access management plan 

 
A Recorded Vote was taken in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 42 (5) as 
follows; 
For: Councillors Bellamy, Davies, Firth, JD Lawson, Lee-Richards, McGrath, Sokhal 
and Ullah (8 votes) 
Against: (no votes)  
 
 

Page 4



 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL 

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS AND LOBBYING 

District Wide Planning Committee 

Name of Councillor 

Item in which 

you have an 

interest 

Type of interest (eg a  

disclosable pecuniary  

interest or an “Other  

Interest”) 

Does the nature of the interest require you to 

withdraw from the meeting while the item in which 

you have an interest is under consideration? [Y/N] 

Brief description 
of your interest 

        

        

LOBBYING 

Date Application/Page 

No. 
Lobbied By  

(Name of  

person) 

Applicant Objector Supporter Action taken / 

Advice given 

              

              

              

 

Signed:   ................................................................. Dated: 

P
age 5

A
genda Item

 3



NOTES 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

If you have any of the following pecuniary interests, they are your disclosable pecuniary interests under the new national rules. Any reference 
to spouse or civil partner includes any person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or as if they were your civil partner. 

Any employment, office, trade, profession, or vocation carried on for profit or gain, which you, or your spouse or civil partner, undertakes. 

Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from your council or authority) made or provided within the relevant period 
in respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election expenses. 

Any contract which is made between you, or your spouse or your civil partner (or a body in which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, 
has a beneficial interest) and your council or authority - 

 under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and 
 which has not been fully discharged. 

Any beneficial interest in land which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, have and which is within the area of your council or authority. 

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, holds to occupy land in the area of your council 
or authority for a month or longer. 

Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) - the landlord is your council or authority; and the tenant is a body in which you, or your spouse or 
your civil partner, has a beneficial interest. 

Any beneficial interest which you, or your spouse or your civil partner has in securities of a body where - 
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of your council or authority; and 
(b) either - 

the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
body; or 
if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in 
which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued 
share capital of that class. 

Lobbying 

If you are approached by any Member of the public in respect of an application on the agenda you must declare that you have been lobbied. A 
declaration of lobbying does not affect your ability to participate in the consideration or determination of the application. 

P
age 6



In respect of the consideration of all the planning applications on this agenda the 
following information applies: 
 
PLANNING POLICY 
 
The statutory development plan is the starting point in the consideration of planning 
applications for the development or use of land unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise (Section 38(6) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).  
 
The statutory Development Plan for Kirklees is the Local Plan (adopted 27th February 
2019) and the Holme Valley Neighbourhood Development Plan (adopted 8th December 
2021).  
 
National Policy/ Guidelines  
 
National planning policy and guidance is set out in National Policy Statements, primarily 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) published 20th December 2023 the 
Planning Practice Guidance Suite (PPGS) first launched 6th March 2014 together with 
Circulars, Ministerial Statements and associated technical guidance.  
 
The NPPF constitutes guidance for local planning authorities and is a material 
consideration in determining applications. 
 

REPRESENTATIONS 
 

Cabinet agreed the Development Management Charter in July 2015. This sets out how 
people and organisations will be enabled and encouraged to be involved in the 
development management process relating to planning applications. 
 

The applications have been publicised by way of press notice, site notice and neighbour 
letters (as appropriate) in accordance with the Development Management Charter and 
in full accordance with the requirements of regulation, statute and national guidance.  
 
EQUALITY ISSUES   
 
The Council has a general duty under section 149 Equality Act 2010 to have due regard 
to eliminating conduct that is prohibited by the Act, advancing equality of opportunity 
and fostering good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
people who do not share that characteristic. The relevant protected characteristics are: 
 

 age; 

 disability; 

 gender reassignment; 

 pregnancy and maternity; 

 race; 

 religion or belief; 

 sex; 

 sexual orientation. 
 

In the event that a specific development proposal has particular equality implications, 
the report will detail how the duty to have “due regard” to them has been discharged. 
  

Page 7

Agenda Item 7



 
HUMAN RIGHTS 
 
The Council has had regard to the Human Rights Act 1998, and in particular:-  
 

 Article 8 - Right to respect for private and family life.  
 

 Article 1 of the First Protocol - Right to peaceful enjoyment of property and 
possessions.   

 
The Council considers that the recommendations within the reports are in accordance 
with the law, proportionate and both necessary to protect the rights and freedoms of 
others and in the public interest.  
 
PLANNING CONDITIONS AND OBLIGATIONS 
 
Paragraph 55 of The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires that Local 
Planning Authorities consider whether otherwise unacceptable development could be 
made acceptable through the use of planning condition or obligations.   
 
The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) stipulates that 
planning obligations (also known as section 106 agreements – of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990) should only be sought where they meet all of the following tests: 
 

 necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
 

 directly related to the development; and 
 

 fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 
 
The NPPF and further guidance in the PPGS, launched on 6th March 2014, require that 
planning conditions should only be imposed where they meet a series of key tests; these 
are in summary: 

1. necessary; 

2. relevant to planning and; 

3. to the development to be permitted; 

4. enforceable; 

5. precise and; 

6. reasonable in all other respects 

 
Recommendations made with respect to the applications brought before the 
Planning Committee have been made in accordance with the above requirements. 

Page 8



 

 
 
 
 
Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
 
DISTRICT-WIDE PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Date: 23-Jan-2025 

Subject: Planning Application 2024/92992 Installation of click and collect 
facility 28-30, Leeds Road, Birstall, Batley, WF17 0EW 

 
APPLICANT 

M  Senthilnathan 

 
DATE VALID TARGET DATE EXTENSION EXPIRY DATE 

18-Oct-2024 13-Dec-2024  

 
Please click the following link for guidance notes on public speaking at planning 
committees, including how to pre-register your intention to speak. 
 
Public speaking at committee link--------------------------------------------------------------------
----------------- 
LOCATION PLAN 
 

 
Map not to scale – for identification purposes only 
  

Originator: Faiza Bano 
 
Tel: 01484 221000 

Page 9

Agenda Item 9

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-applications/pdf/public-speaking-committee.pdf


 
 
Electoral wards affected: Birstall and Birkenshaw 

Ward Councillors Consulted: No 

Public or Private: Public 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
DELEGATE approval of the application and the issuing of the decision notice 
to the Head of Planning and Development in order to complete the list of 
conditions including those contained within this report.  
 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION: 
 
1.1 This application is brought to the District-Wide Planning Committee at the 

request of Ward Councillor Elizabeth Smaje, for the following reasons:  
 

- The installation has caused significant traffic disruptions, especially during 
peak hours on Leeds Road. 

 
- Delivery vans stopping on Leeds Road create unsafe conditions for both 

drivers and pedestrians. 
 
- Residents are experiencing difficulties accessing their driveways due to 

vehicles stopping for deliveries. 
 
- The installation was carried out without prior planning permission. 

 
1.2  The Chair of the District-Wide Planning Committee has confirmed that 

Councillor Smaje’s reasons for the referral to the committee are acceptable 
having regard to the Councillor’s Protocol for Planning Committees.  

 
2.0 SITE AND SURROUNDINGS:  
 
2.1 The site to which this application relates to is 28 – 30 Leeds Road; a two-storey 

set of semi-detached buildings, finished in stone and roofed with tiles. The 
ground floor comprises a local convenience store. The site is located on an A-
road and customer parking is accessible on-street along Leeds Road.  

 
2.2 The immediate locality is predominantly residential in character, with the 

exception of a hot food takeaway to the south-west.  
 

3.0 PROPOSAL:  
 

3.1 The application is seeking planning permission for the installation of a click 
and collect facility. This is already in situ, located adjacent to the western 
boundary within the front curtilage of the application site.   

 

3.2  Dimensions of Click and Collect Facility: 
 

- Width – 5880 mm 
- Depth – 1468 mm 
- Height – 4711 mm.  

Page 10



 
4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including enforcement history):  
 
4.1 There is no relevant planning application history relating to the land within the 

red line boundary of this application site. However, the following application 
related to land to the rear of 28-30): 

 
2023/90257– Demolition of existing garage and erection of 2 commercial units 
with associated hard landscaping (Class E) - Withdrawn 

 
4.2 Relevant enforcement history:  
 

At the application site:  
 

COMP/24/0096 - Alleged unauthorised click and collect facility 
  

At the rear of the application site: 
 
COMP/23/0202 - Commencement of 2023/90257 prior to a decision.  
 

5.0 HISTORY OF NEGOGIATIONS (including revisions to the scheme):  
 
5.1 No amendments have been requested through the course of the application.    
 
6.0 PLANNING POLICY: 
 
6.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that 

planning applications are determined in accordance with the Development Plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The statutory Development 
Plan for Kirklees is the Local Plan (adopted 27th February 2019). 

 
6.2 The site falls in an area within an area identified by the Coal Authority as being 

at low risk of ground movement as a result of former mining activity. 
 
6.3 Kirklees Local Plan (2019): 
 

 LP1 – Achieving Sustainable Development  
 LP2 – Place Shaping  
 LP21 – Highway Safety  
 LP22 – Parking Provision  
 LP24 – Design  
 LP52 – Protection and improvement of environmental quality 

 
6.4 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Document:  
 

 Kirklees Highway Design Guide 
 
6.5 National Planning Guidance:  
 

National planning policy and guidance is set out in National Policy Statements, 
primarily the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) published December 
2024, the Planning Practice Guidance Suite (PPGS) first launched 6th March 
2014 together with Circulars, Ministerial Statements and associated technical 
guidance. 

Page 11



 
6.6 The NPPF constitutes guidance for local planning authorities and is a material 

consideration in determining applications:  
 

 Chapter 9 – Promoting Sustainable Transport 
 Chapter 12 – Achieving Well-Designed Places  
 Chapter 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

 
6.7  Legislation:  
 

 The Town & Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).  
 The Town & Country Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 

1990  
 The Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004  

 
7.0 PUBLIC/LOCAL RESPONSE:  
 
7.1 The application was publicised in accordance with statutory publicity 

requirements.  
 
7.2 Neighbour notification letters were sent to all properties directly neighbouring 

the site.  
 
7.3 Final publicity date expired: 28th November 2024. 
 
7.4 The following comments have been received from the Ward members 

Councillor Joshua Sheard, Councillor Mark Thompson and Councillor Elizabeth 
Smaje: 

 
“The objection to planning application 2024/92992 for the click-and-collect box 
outside the shop on Leeds Road in Birstall highlights significant traffic disruptions 
caused by its installation without prior planning permission. Delivery vans 
frequently stop on Leeds Road, creating bottlenecks and unsafe conditions for 
drivers and pedestrians. Residents also report difficulties accessing their 
driveways due to vehicles stopping for deliveries. The objection emphasises the 
need to prioritise road safety and accessibility, urging the refusal of the 
application and suggesting that a more suitable solution be found to ensure 
smoother traffic flow without impeding local residents”. 
 

7.5 In response to site publicity, 10 representations have been received from 
members of the public (6 in objection, 1 general comment and 3 in support).  
Three of the objections and the general comment were received from the same 
property. The representations received in objection and the general comment 
to the application are summarised as follows:  

 
HIGHWAY AND PEDESTRIAN SAFETY 
 

- Significant parking issues, particularly with transit vans blocking adjacent 
driveways including outside the opening hours of the shop 

 
- The unit’s placement near a busy junction exacerbates traffic chaos, and its 

proximity to the road seems to violate regulations  
 

Page 12



- The primary issue stems from people using the parcel drop-off or van drivers 
collecting parcels 

 
- Vehicles parked on the pavement, and crossing the busy road with a young 

child is hazardous due to obstructed views 
 

- The parking problems have escalated since the unit’s installation, causing 
chaos, especially during peak times 
 

- Issues with people parking on Roebuck Street causing access problems 
(including Bookers vehicles and couriers) to drop off or pick up parcels, even 
when space is available on Leeds Road. Despite complaints to Bookers, the 
issue persists due to delivery notes indicating Roebuck Street as a parking 
area 
 

- Previous promises to monitor parking have not been fulfilled 
 
RESIDENTIAL AMENITY 
 
-  Unit is only inches from the boundary wall and driveway of adjacent property, 

No.26 
 
- Residents have been disturbed by delivery men emptying the boxes outside 

the shop’s opening hours of 7 am to 10 pm 
 
OTHER MATTERS 
 

- Numerous confrontations with drivers and complaints to delivery companies 
have not resolved the issue. Requests to move vehicles often result in verbal 
abuse, which is intimidating. This is causing stress and aggravation to 
neighbours.  
 

- Litter from the unit ends up in neighbouring gardens.  
 
7.6 In response to publicity, three supporting comments were received. The   

comments raised within these supporting documents are summarised as 
follows: 

 
- There has been no noticeable increase in traffic due to the site, with ample 

parking available on Leeds Road.  
 

- The driveways reportedly being blocked are further down the road and not 
affected by the drop-off site.  
 

- People can choose quieter times to visit.  
 
- The 7-10 shop and a nearby fish shop are in close proximity, and they have 

encountered more parking issues with the fish shop than the 7-10 shop.  
 

- The 7-10 shop has been part of the community for many years and needs to 
evolve to stay competitive.  
 

- There is a post box outside, with no objections to Royal Mail’s out-of-hours 
collections.  

Page 13



 
- Recommend imposing collection time restrictions rather than driving the shop 

away. 
 

- There is a need for such facilities due to the rise in internet shopping and the 
convenience of posting parcels outside normal working hours. 

 
- The shop has addressed parking issues by putting up signs and cones.  

 
8.0 CONSULTATION RESPONSES:  
 
8.1 Below is a summary of the consultee responses received in relation to the 

application. Where appropriate, these are expanded on in the main 
assessment.  

 
KC Environmental Health – do not consider there to be any significant 
environmental health impacts with this development and no objections to 
permission being granted for this development.  

 
KC Highways Development Management – The application seeks approval 
for a click and collect facility at 28-30 Leeds Road, Birstall, where a local 
convenience store currently operates. Customer’s park on Leeds Road, which 
has a 30mph speed limit and is 7.8m wide, accommodating on-street parking 
without compromising road safety. “No waiting at any time” restrictions and 
keep clear bar markings protect the junction with Upper Batley Lane and 
adjacent driveways. Although the proposal will increase vehicle movements, it 
is not expected to significantly exceed current levels, making it difficult to object 
on highway safety grounds. Consequently, Highways DM have no objection to 
the proposal. 

 
9.0 MAIN ISSUES: 
 

 Principle of development  
 Impact on visual amenity 
 Impact on residential amenity  
 Impact on highway safety 
 Other matters  
 Representations  

 
10.0 APPRAISAL: 
 
 Principle of Development:  
 
10.1 The site is without notation on the Kirklees Local Plan (KLP). Policy LP1 of the 

KLP states that when considering development proposals, the Council will take 
a positive approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development contained in the NPPF.  

 
10.2  In this case, the principle of development is considered acceptable, and the 

proposal shall now be assessed against all other material planning 
considerations, including visual and residential amenity, as well as highway 
safety. 
 

10.3  These issues along with other policy considerations will be addressed below. 

Page 14



 
Visual Amenity  

  
10.4  Chapter 12 of the NPPF discusses good design. Good design is a key aspect 

of sustainable development, it creates better places in which to live and work 
and helps to make development acceptable to communities. Local Plan Policies 
LP1, LP2 and most importantly LP24, are all also relevant. All the policies seek 
to achieve good quality design that retains a sense of local identity, which is in 
keeping with the scale of development in the local area and is visually attractive.  

 
10.5 Local Plan Policy LP24 states that all proposals should promote good design 

by ensuring the following:  
 

‘the form, scale, layout and details of all development respects and enhances 
the character of the townscape, heritage assets and landscape’ and that 
‘extensions are subservient to the original building, are in keeping with the 
existing buildings in terms of scale, materials and details and minimise impact 
on residential amenity of future and neighbouring occupiers’. 

 
10.6 The Inpost click and collect facility would have a width of approximately 

5880mm, an overall height of approximately 4711mm and a depth of 1468mm 
and would be grey in colour. Given the scale, design and position together with 
the surroundings, the proposed click and collect facility would have no 
significant impact in terms of visual amenity.  

 
10.7  Having taken the above into account, the proposal is considered to be 

appropriate in size, scale and design in this location, and would comply with 
Policy LP24 of the KLP and the aims of chapter 12 of the NPPF. 

 
Impact on Residential Amenity 
 
10.8  The National Planning Policy Framework states that Local Planning 

Authorities should seek to achieve a good standard of amenity for all existing 
and future occupants of land and buildings. This is echoed within Kirklees 
Local Plan Policy LP24 which states that: -  

 
‘Proposals should provide a high standard of amenity for future and 
neighbouring occupiers, including maintaining appropriate distances between 
buildings and the creation of development-free buffer zones between housing 
and employment uses incorporating means of screening where necessary’.  

 
10.9 Policy LP52 is also relevant which seeks to protect the amenity of surrounding 

properties.   
 
10.10  The click and collect facility would be sited across the front elevation toward 

the western boundary within the front curtilage of the application site. The 
click and collect facility is sited approximately 1135mm away from the shared 
boundary with number 26 Leeds Road.  

   
10.11  The size and scale of the proposal and nature of the development is such that 

it would not be unduly oppressive / overbearing, lead to overshadowing or 
impact upon the privacy of neighbouring occupiers and accords with Local 
Plan Policy LP24.     

 

Page 15



10.12 Given the location within the curtilage of the host ‘commercial’ property and its 
size/scale, it is concluded that the installation of the click and collect facility 
would not result in any undue impacts of overbearing or overshadowing for 
the occupiers of the neighbouring property, and it would not result in 
significant harm to their privacy in any way.    

 
10.13 In respect to noise disturbance, KC Environmental Health were consulted on 

the application and do not consider there to be any significant environmental 
health impacts with this development and raise no objections to permission 
being granted.  

 
10.14 Having considered the above factors, the proposals are considered not to 

result in any adverse impact upon the residential amenity of any surrounding 
neighbouring occupants, thereby complying with Policy LP24 of the KLP (b) in 
terms of the amenities of neighbouring properties and Paragraph 127 (f) of the 
NPPF.  

 
Impact on Highway Safety  
 
10.15 Paragraph 116 of the NPPF states that development should only be prevented 

or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on 
highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would 
be severe.  

 
10.16 Policies LP21 and LP22 of the Kirklees Local Plan relate to access and highway 

safety and are considered to be relevant to the consideration of this application. 
The Council’s adopted Highway Design Guide seeks to ensure acceptable 
levels of off-street parking are retained are also considered to be of relevance.   

 
10.17 Whilst the proposal may attract more users, the net gain or loss of space is 

considered to be negligible. The proposed scheme would not alter the existing 
parking arrangements at the site or access to and from the adjoining highway.    

 
10.18 The property functions as a local convenience store, with customers utilising 

parking available on Leeds Road. Leeds Road has a 30mph speed limit and 
measures approximately 7.8 metres in width, can accommodate on-street 
parking without compromising road safety. “No waiting at any time” restrictions 
protect the junction of Leeds Road and Upper Batley Lane, and clear bar 
markings across adjacent driveways ensure unobstructed access is 
maintained. Although the proposal may lead to an increase in vehicular 
movements, it is not anticipated that these will be significantly higher than 
current levels, and as such, Officers do not consider that this would be sufficient 
to warrant a reason for refusal on highway safety grounds.  

 
10.19 In turn, the proposal would appropriately accord with Chapter 9 of the NPPF, 

and Policies LP21 and LP22 of the Kirklees Local Plan.    
 
Other Matters    
   
Climate Change:    
     
10.20 On 12th November 2019, the Council adopted a target for achieving ‘net zero’ 

carbon emissions by 2038, with an accompanying carbon budget set by the 
Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research. National Planning Policy 

Page 16



includes a requirement to promote carbon reduction and enhance resilience to 
climate change through the planning system and these principles have been 
incorporated into the formulation of Local Plan policies. The Local Plan 
predates the declaration of a climate emergency and the net zero carbon target; 
however, it includes a series of policies which are used to assess the suitability 
of planning applications in the context of climate change. When determining 
planning applications, the Council will use the relevant Local Plan policies and 
guidance documents to embed the climate change agenda.   

 
10.21 Given the nature of the proposal, it is not deemed reasonable to require the 

applicant to implement specific resilience measures in this instance; the 
proposal is a small-scale development to an existing building. As such, no 
special measures are required in terms of the planning application with regards 
to carbon emissions.  

 
10.22 There are no other matters relevant to the consideration of this application. 
 
Representations  
 
10.23 The comments received in representations are addressed as follows:   
 
10.24 Ward Member comments: 
 

Ward members Councillor Joshua Sheard, Councillor Mark Thompson and 
Councillor Elizabeth Smaje:  

“The objection to planning application 2024/92992 for the click-and-collect box 
outside the shop on Leeds Road in Birstall highlights significant traffic disruptions 
caused by its installation without prior planning permission. Delivery vans frequently 
stop on Leeds Road, creating bottlenecks and unsafe conditions for drivers and 
pedestrians. Residents also report difficulties accessing their driveways due to 
vehicles stopping for deliveries. The objection emphasises the need to prioritise road 
safety and accessibility, urging the refusal of the application and suggesting that a 
more suitable solution be found to ensure smoother traffic flow without impeding 
local residents”. 
 
Officer Response: 
 
After a thorough review of the application and associated details, officers have 
carefully considered the concerns raised in the objection. Officers have assessed the 
proposal against relevant policies to ensure that it meets the relevant criteria. The 
proposal relates to an existing convenience store and is not considered to result in a 
significant intensification in use of the site that would warrant a reason for refusal on 
highway safety grounds. The existing parking arrangements along Leeds Road are 
within the acceptable safety standards. 

 
10.25 Representations received from members of the public:   
 

HIGHWAY AND PEDESTRIAN SAFETY 
 

- Significant parking issues, particularly with transit vans blocking adjacent 
driveways including outside the opening hours of the shop 

 
- The unit’s placement near a busy junction exacerbates traffic chaos, and its 

proximity to the road seems to violate regulations  

Page 17



 
- The primary issue stems from people using the parcel drop-off or van drivers 

collecting parcels 
 

- Vehicles parked on the pavement, and crossing the busy road with a young 
child is hazardous due to obstructed views 
 

- The parking problems have escalated since the unit’s installation, causing 
chaos, especially during peak times 
 

- Issues with people parking on Roebuck Street causing access problems 
(including Bookers vehicles and couriers) to drop off or pick up parcels, even 
when space is available on Leeds Road. Despite complaints to Bookers, the 
issue persists due to delivery notes indicating Roebuck Street as a parking 
area 
 

- Previous promises to monitor parking have not been fulfilled 
 
Officer Response: 

 
The proposal relates to an existing convenience store and is not considered to 
result in a significant intensification in use of the site that would warrant a reason 
for refusal on highway safety grounds.  
 

RESIDENTIAL AMENITY 
 

- Unit is only inches from the boundary wall and driveway of adjacent property, 
No.26 

 
- Residents have been disturbed by delivery men emptying the boxes outside 

the shop’s opening hours of 7 am to 10 pm 
 
Officer Response  
 
The submitted plans demonstrate that the click-and-collect facility is located at 
least one metre away from the shared boundary with No.26, the front 
elevation of which is set back significantly in relation to the proposal. 
Furthermore, the driveway of No.26 provides a degree of separation between 
the neighbouring property and application site. KC Environmental Health have 
raised no objections to the proposal. On this basis, the proposal is considered 
to have an acceptable impact on residential amenity. 

 
OTHER MATTERS 

 
- Numerous confrontations with drivers and complaints to delivery companies 

have not resolved the issue. Requests to move vehicles often result in verbal 
abuse, which is intimidating This is causing stress and aggravation to 
neighbours.  
 

- Litter from the unit ends up in neighbouring gardens.  
 

  

Page 18



-  
Officer Response: 
 
These comments are noted, however following assessment of the proposal in 
relation to the relevant local and national policies, Officers do not consider 
there to be sufficient grounds for refusal of the proposal pertaining to visual, 
residential and highway safety.  

 
10.26 The supporting comments are noted.  
 
11.0  Conclusion    
 
11.1 This application for the installation of a click and collect facility has been 

assessed against relevant policies in the development plan as listed in the 
policy section of the report, the National Planning Policy Framework and other 
material considerations. 

 
11.2 The NPPF has introduced a presumption in favour of sustainable development. 

The policies set out in the NPPF taken as a whole constitute the Government’s 
view of what sustainable development means in practice. It is considered that 
the development would constitute sustainable development and is therefore 
recommended for approval.   

 
12.0 CONDITIONS (Summary list. Full wording of conditions including any 

amendments/additions to be delegated to the Head of Planning and 
Development) 

 

1. Development to be carried out in accordance with approved plans and 
specifications 

 
Background Papers: 
 
Application Details:  
 
Planning application details | Kirklees Council 
 
Certificate of Ownership: Certificate A signed 16th October 2024 
 
 

Page 19

https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-applications/search-for-planning-applications/detail.aspx?id=2024%2F92992


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	3 Declaration of Interests and Lobbying
	7 Planning Applications
	9 Planning Application - Application No: 2024/92992
	Subject: Planning Application 2024/92992 Installation of click and collect facility 28-30, Leeds Road, Birstall, Batley, WF17 0EW


